
 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 

 
 

Health and Adult Social Care  
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Agenda 

 

Wednesday 16 November 2022 at 7.00 pm 
 

Main Hall (1st Floor) - 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 
 

Watch the meeting live: youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Natalia Perez (Chair) 
Councillor Genevieve Nwaogbe 
Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg 
 

Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris 
 

Co-optees 

Lucia Boddington 
Victoria Brignell - Action on Disability 
Jim Grealy - H&F Save Our NHS 
Roy Margolis 
Keith Mallinson 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 0777 6672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
 
 
Note: This meeting is open to members of the public, but seating is limited so please 
contact bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk if you’d like to attend. The building has disabled 
access. 

Date Issued: 8 November 2022 

https://www.youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Health and Adult Social Care  
Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

16 November 2022 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

4 - 10 

 (a) To approve as an accurate record and the Chair to sign the minutes of 
the meeting of the Health and Adult Social Care PAC held on 20 July 
2022; and 

 
(b) To note the outstanding actions.  

 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

3.   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee.  
 
 
 

 



 

4.   WESTERN EYE HOSPITAL AND OPHTHALMOLOGY SERVICES  
 

11 - 19 

 This report from Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provides an 
update on Western Eye Hospital and ophthalmology services and a 
planned £9m building project with additional operating capacity to help 
tackle the waiting list backlog created by the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
 

 

5.   IMPROVING PLANNED ORTHOPAEDIC INPATIENT SURGERY IN 
NORTH WEST LONDON  
 

20 - 30 

 This report from Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust sets out the 
proposal from the four acute NHS trusts in north west London to deliver 
routine, inpatient surgeries through an elective orthopaedic hub.  
 
 

 

6.   WEST LONDON NHS TRUST UPDATE 
 
This report provides an update following the recent Care Quality 
Commission inspection of West London NHS Trust’s Community Mental 
Health Services for Adults of Working Age and the actions under way by 
the Trust to address areas of concern and West London NHS Trust’s 
current enhanced engagement activities regarding acute adult mental 
health inpatient beds in Ealing which were suspended in 2020.  
 
 

31 - 44 

7.   WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 

 The Committee to discuss items for inclusion in future meetings.   
 
 

 

8.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 Wednesday, 25 January, 2023 
Wednesday, 22 March, 2023 
 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Health and Adult Social Care 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

Wednesday 20 July 2022 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Natalia Perez (Chair), Genevieve Nwaogbe, 
Patricia Quigley and Amanda Lloyd-Harris 
 
Co-opted members: Victoria Brignell - (Action On Disability)* and Jim Grealy - 
H&F Save Our NHS (H&F Save Our NHS)*; and Keith Mallinson 
 
Other Councillors:  Ben Coleman 
 
Officers / guests: Jo Baty, Assistant director specialist support and independent 
living Social Care, H&F; Janet Cree, Chief Operating Officer / Programme Director 
CYP & Maternity at Central, West, Hammersmith & Fulham – North West London 
Integrated Care System; Shazia Dean, Head of Safeguarding and MASH, H&F; 
Robyn Doran, Chief Operating Officer, Central North West London*; Carleen Duffy, 
Operating Manager, Healthwatch, H&F*; Merril Hammer, HaFSON*; Mike Howard, 
Chair of the Adult Safeguarding Board, H&F); Philippa Johnson, Director of 
Operations, Inner North West Division, Central London Community Healthcare NHS 
Trust*; Dr Nicola Lang, Director of Public Health, H&F*;  Lisa Redfern, Strategic 
Director of Social Care, H&F; Chaksu Sharma, Unplanned Care Lead, Integration & 
Delivery Team, North West London Integrated Care System*; Andrew Pike, 
Assistant Director of Communications and Engagement, NHS North West London 
Integrated Care System*; Sue Roostan, Borough Director, H&F; Michelle Scaife, 
Quality Improvement Lead – Older People’s Care & Last Phase of Life; Strategy 
and Transformation Team, North West London Integrated Care System* 
 
*Attended virtually 

 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 
Councillor Natalia Perez thanked Councillor Lucy Richardson for leading the 
committee for five years, maintaining health scrutiny and accountability during 
an incredibly challenging time.  Councillor Richardson took the lead on 
several areas including mental health and inclusive apprenticeships.  She left 
a legacy of leading a collegiate approach, while at the same time holding 
health services to account through rigorous and challenging scrutiny.  
Councillor Richardson was now Lead Member for Community Mental Health.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the informal notes of the previous meeting were noted and there were no 
matters arising.  
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ann Rosenburg, and 
co-optees Lucia Boddington and Roy Margolis. 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Patricia Quigley requested that her membership of the 
Safeguarding Adults Board be noted.  
 

4. PUBLIC HEALTH UPDATE  
 
Dr Nicola Lang provided a verbal update on Monkey Pox and Covid 19.  
There had been a steady increase in the number of Monkey Pox cases, 1735 
reported in the UK, 1660 in England, of which 1229 were in London. The at-
risk group comprised of men who identified as gay, bisexual or men who have 
sex with other men.  There had been a positive, whole systems approach 
which combined GUM (Genito Urinary Medicine) services as well as acute 
services.  Working with housing services, support had been provided to 
ensure that patients were safely discharged when they did not have a place in 
which they could safely isolate.   
 
There had been a concern that the capacity to continue delivering family 
planning activities in sexual health clinics would be displaced because of the 
response to Monkey Pox.  However, additional support had been offered at 
the John Hunter Clinic at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, if they could not 
be seen at 10 Hammersmith Broadway which had been very welcome.  A 
small pox vaccine was now being made available and rolled out to vaccinate 
those in at risk communities.  
 
Providing an update on Covid 19, Dr Lang confirmed that the number of 
cases across the UK continued to rise exponentially and that there had been 
many localised outbreaks in H&F nursing homes and care settings.  
Fortunately, high rates of vaccination meant that most cases were 
asymptomatic or experienced mild symptoms.  
 
Regarding Monkey Pox, Councillor Patricia Quigley enquired if there would be 
a similar communications or messaging provision as had been previously 
provided in response to Covid 19.  Dr Lang confirmed that there had not been 
as the response was being delivered through specialist communication 
channels deployed by sexual health charities. SASH (Sexual Health Outreach 
Service) was a mini consortium providing support for those in at risk 
communities.  The GUM service had also reached out to a local gay bar, 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Teds, in Fulham, to offer appropriate and sensitive support to encourage 
small pox vaccination.  
 
Co-optee Victoria Brignell asked about the extreme heatwave and enquired if 
with the agreement of the other members, an update could be provided at the 
next meeting about how the heatwave had affected residents, what activities 
had been undertaken in response to help mitigate and what steps could be 
taken in the future. Dr Lang welcomed the proposal and expanded it to 
include contributions the emergency planning team. The heatwave had 
thrown into stark relief the question of preparation for extreme heat in the UK.  
Measures had been implemented to protect vulnerable people in care homes 
and schools but there was a question about how to make buildings heat 
secure using white paint on reflective surfaces and awnings, using recyclable 
materials that did not retain heat.  Dr Lang reported that she was about to 
commence a large project with the environment department recognising that 
significant preparations would be needed to tackle climate change effectively. 
  

ACTIONS: Update to be provided at the next meeting on how the heatwave 
has affected the borough, what has been done to mitigate, and steps to take 

into the future; to invite the emergency planning team to help explore how 
residents can prepare themselves to deal with extreme heatwaves in future.  

Co-optee Jim Grealy enquired about the Covid 19 vaccination programme 
and for those at risk aged over 50 and how this group could be encouraged to 
receive their booster vaccination during the autumn roll out.  Philippa Johnson 
and Sue Roostan responded that the JCVI (Joint Committee on Vaccination 
and Immunisation) had announced that cohorts 1-9 over the age of 50 and at 
risk would become eligible and that preparation and planning work had begun 
to implement the autumnal booster programme, including how many residents 
H&F were eligible to assess the capacity required to deliver it.    

Councillor Ben Coleman asked if there were sufficient levels of vaccines to 
support the autumn delivery programme.  Sue Roostan confirmed that there 
was, and that delivery would be co-ordinated through hospital sites, 
community pharmacies with support from primary care.  There would be a 
focus on vulnerable and house bound patients, and patients in care homes.  
There was also the potential to co-deliver both Covid 19 and flu vaccines.  
 

ACTION: That a further vaccine update would be provided at the next 
meeting of the committee.  

  
Councillor Amanda-Harris sought clarification about the offer of a small pox 
vaccine and asked if it was like the Covid 19 vaccine. Dr Lang confirmed that 
the small pox vaccine was similar to the monkey pox vaccine as it conferred a 
degree of protection against infection.  Although the level of protection was 
unknown, it reduced the severity of the disease.  It was also confirmed that 
the small pox vaccine programme would not replicate the same methods of 
delivery such as a mobile bus as the main group identified was sensitive and 
at-risk. Vaccines were being delivered confidentially and quietly through 
sexual health clinics.  With regards to Covid 19 vaccination, the mobile 
service would be deployed. Sue Roostan confirmed that there was sufficient 
capacity within the system to deliver vaccines, and to provide these at home 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

or in a care setting where necessary, primary care network hub or community 
pharmacy.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the verbal update and actions were noted.  
 

5. NWL ICS UPDATE ON COMMUNITY– BASED SPECIALIST PALLIATIVE 
CARE SERVICES IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME  
 
Councillor Natalia Perez welcomed colleagues from North West London 
Integrated Care System (NWL ICS).  These included:  Janet Cree; Robin 
Doran (who described her personal and professional experience and 
background as a carer and nurse, respectively); Phillipa Johnson, director, 
H&F borough-based partnership (previously a pharmacist); Andrew Pike, a 
communications lead for the NWL ICS; Sue Roostan; Michelle Scaife, 
delivery manager for the last phase of life program supporting with the 
delivery and transformation work on the review (an occupational therapist by 
background); and Chaksu Sharma, a programme manager for integration and 
delivery work in the borough, supporting the end-of-life engagement work. 
Contributions from co-optee Jim Grealy and Merril Hammer, from HaFSON to 
the engagement process on end-of-life care were commended for their 
invaluable input and support of this work. 
 
Sue Roostan outlined the NWL ICS intention to ensure that the provision of 
specialist palliative care services for H&F residents, patients and family carers 
was improved.  A wider, NWL wide steering group had been established 
which included NHS providers, hospices, local authorities, and residents.  An 
issues paper published in November 2021 set out key reasons for the need to 
review the provision and integral to this was a conversation about future 
services.  An interim engagement outcome report had also been published 
setting out the feedback received to date locally in H&F.  Early engagement 
with local communities had allowed Chaksu Sharma and the borough team to 
work closely with lay partners and stakeholders such as HaFSON to design 
engagement materials. Early engagement with residents offered opportunities 
to work together to identify what matters to residents and how changes can 
be implemented to reflect this.  Listening events had been well attended and 
agreement obtained to extend the scope of the engagement.   
 
Robin Doran described the role of the model of care working group whose 
membership comprised of several stakeholders to help develop a framework 
and action plan to deliver high quality community-based specialist palliative 
which was sustainable across the whole of northwest London.  Input was 
being included from across the 8 London boroughs to reflect the patient voice 
from different communities, particularly those with protected characteristics.  
 
Co-optee Keith Mallinson shared his personal experience of bereavement 
and commended the work of the Royal Trinity hospice who had provided 
support and assurance throughout.  It was important to sustain continuity of 
care and district nurse visits were an important part of ensuring consistent 
services.  

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris commented that four years had passed since 
the in-care patient service at Pembridge had been suspended. Councillor 
Lloyd-Harris sought an update about the lack of progress and the impact on 
residents, some of whom would need to travel out of the borough to visit 
terminally ill loved ones in hospices located out of the area.  Phillipa Johnson 
acknowledged that there had been a delay and explained that there had been 
continued attempts to recruit specialist staff since 2018 but a suitably qualified 
and experienced palliative lead consultant had not been identified. Councillor 
Patricia Quigley commented that families and friends of those require 
palliative care services need to be supported and it was acknowledged that a 
good example of this work was with carers in Hillingdon who were given the 
option of training and support in administering medication.  
 
ACTION: Phillipa Johnson to contact Councillor Quigley following the meeting 

to discuss her suggestion about how carers could be empowered to care for 
loved ones needing end of life care and support.  

 
Co-optee Jim Grealy outlined his positive experience of engaging with NHS 
colleagues throughout the engagement work and commended the 
outstanding work of Robyn Doran and colleagues. There was a significant, 
national shortage of qualified palliative care specialists and palliative care 
services were not unique in this respect.  The wish to die at home was one 
that should be effectively facilitated where appropriate.  A consequence of the 
lack of experienced staff at all levels was having untrained carers taking care 
of loved ones.  Michelle Scaife explained that the model of care working 
group was looking at robust data around local population need and aimed to 
map out the workforce need.   It was noted that the timeframe for future 
engagement and potential consultation (if there was significant variation in 
service, this would lead to formal consultation) was to be determined but 
recent engagement to date had evidenced genuine co-production which was 
welcomed.  Funding for the Pembridge hospice was ringfenced and was 
being used to support the re-provisioning of other units and palliative care 
support services.  Philippa Johnson added that Pembridge in-patient care had 
been suspended for a significant period and that due to the loss of service, it 
would take time to reinstate the service, if that was the outcome but this 
would only follow once there was clarity about the model of care.    
 
  Lisa Redfern said that the longer Pembridge in-patient care unit remained 
suspended, the harder it would be to re-establish the service and it was 
acknowledged that it had become increasingly difficult for the Pembridge 
community staff team to remain motivated.  
 

Action: NWL Model of Care Working Group will be gathering robust data 
around population need and workforce data to plan resources for high quality 
care and service provision, with the intention to provide this once completed, 

to the November PAC meeting (if ready) with regular updates to future 
meetings; and for Councillor Ben Coleman to be kept informed of the work, as 

Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care. 
 
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

RESOLVED 
 
That the report was noted.  
 
 

6. H&F SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21  
 
Councillor Perez welcomed Mike Howard and Shazia Deen who jointly 
presented the Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2020/21.  The 
report set out the work of the Board based on identified priorities and offered 
excellent range examples of support provided, for example, to people who 
had experienced significant homelessness.  
 
Focusing on one of the examples referred to in the report regarding people 
who smoked, Co-optee Victoria Brignell observed that in terms of personal 
choice, some individuals found that smoking offered a quality of life and joy 
that helped make life feel more bearable.  Given the increase in domestic 
violence cases and the focus on the Violence Against Women and Girls 
(VAWG) work, Victoria Brignell asked if this was an area of interest to the 
Board.  It was noted that this was beyond the remit of the Board which 
focused largely on carers committing an abuse, or the person being cared for 
experiencing abuse, and intergenerational abuse.  
 
Co-optee Keith Mallinson highlighted the experience of a client through his 
work with the Shepherds Bush Families Support Service and who had ended 
their life.  Safeguarding concerns had been identified but it had been difficult 
to navigate the Crises Team pathway and his credentials as a support worker 
advocating for and supporting this individual had been questioned.  It was 
noted that the case, which was currently subject to a coroner’s investigation, 
was outside of the Boards remit.   
 
Councillor Amanda Lloyd-Harris enquired about the data on suicides and Dr 
Nicola Lang informed the meeting that work on the suicide prevention board 
was currently being concluded.  This contained data on the number of suicide 
or attempted suicides locally and would be shared on completion.  Councillor 
Amanda Lloyd-Harris referred to two fatalities caused by fire and linked to 
hoarding and asked how assessments were undertaken, and where for 
example, the individual was a smoker.  Mike Howard explained that this was 
a joint piece of work with the two dedicated fire officers based in housing and 
who liaised with the London Fire Brigade.  Councillor Lloyd-Harris also sought 
a definition of “income deprived” which could be interpreted relatively 
depending on individual circumstances.   
 
Action: A member recounted a resident experience with WLT which resulted 

in that individual taking their own life. The PAC considered this to be a serious 
matter that required a response from WLT. 

Action: The completed annual report on local suicide statistics be shared. 
Action: Definition of "income deprivation" to be provided to the PAC. 

 
 
 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

RESOLVED 
 
That the report was noted. 
 

7. HEALTHWATCH H&F UPDATE  
 
This report was deferred to a later meeting and would be expanded to include 
the current work commissioned by West London Trust on patient engagement 
with and experiences of mental health services with Healthwatch H&F. 
 

ACTION: For H&F to connect with Healthwatch to develop autism initiatives 
and this could be supported through co-production.  

ACTION: For North West London ICS colleagues to contact West London 
Trust regarding borough-based partnership mental health campaign, and 

priority areas of work currently being delivered by WLT. 
 

 
8. WORK PROGRAMME  

 
The committee noted that the November meeting would include a Public 
Health update, Western eye services and scrutiny of ophthalmic services, and 
the orthopaedic elective hub. 
 

9. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The date of the next meeting was noted as 16 November 2022. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7pm 
Meeting ended: 9.35pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 0777672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



1 

 

 
 
 
 

Western Eye Hospital and ophthalmology services 
 

Report from Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 
to the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee 
 
 

1.  Introduction 

This report to the Health and Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee from Imperial 
College Healthcare NHS Trust (‘the Trust’) provides an update on Western Eye Hospital and 
ophthalmology services. A major £9m building project is planned at the Western Eye 
Hospital. It will allow the Trust to reopen the hospital fully next spring 2023, with additional 
operating capacity to help tackle the waiting list backlog created by the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

2.  Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust overview 

At Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust we provide acute and specialist healthcare to over  
one million people a year. Formed in 2007, we are one of the largest NHS trusts in the 
country, with more than 14,500 staff. 
 
Our five hospitals in central and west London – Charing Cross, Hammersmith, Queen 
Charlotte’s & Chelsea, St Mary’s and the Western Eye – have a long track record in 
research and education, influencing care and treatment nationally and worldwide. 
 
We continue to develop a growing range of integrated and digital care services and offer 
private healthcare in dedicated facilities on all our sites. 
 
We provide care from five hospitals on four sites: 
Charing Cross Hospital: providing a range of acute and specialist services including 
cancer care and a 24/7 accident and emergency department (A&E). It also hosts a hyper-
acute stroke unit and is an important hub for integrated care in partnership with local GPs 
and community providers. 
 
Hammersmith Hospital: a specialist hospital renowned for its strong research connections, 
it offers a range of services, including renal, haematology, cancer and cardiology care, and  
provides a specialist heart attack centre. As well as being a major base for Imperial College  
London, the site also hosts Medical Research Council’s London Institute of Medical 
Sciences. 
 
Queen Charlotte’s & Chelsea Hospital: a maternity, women’s and neonatal care hospital, 
also with strong research links. It has a midwife-led birth centre as well as specialist services 
for complex pregnancies, fetal and neonatal care. 
 
St Mary’s Hospital: the major acute hospital for north west London as well as a maternity 
centre with consultant and midwife-led services. The hospital provides care across a wide 
range of specialties and runs one of four major trauma centres in London in addition to its 
24/7 A&E department. 
 
Western Eye Hospital: a specialist eye hospital with an A&E department and outpatients,  
inpatients, day case and inpatient surgery services. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2 

 

We run eight renal satellite units. 
 
With our partners – Imperial College London; The Institute of Cancer Research, London; The  
Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust; and Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust – we form the Imperial College Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC). 
We are one of eight academic health science centres in England, working to improve health 
and care through the rapid translation of discoveries from early scientific research into 
benefits for patients. 
 
The CQC is the independent regulator of health and adult social care in England. The CQC 
monitors NHS trust services using five quality domains: safe, effective, caring, responsive 
and well-led. Additionally, the CQC uses a well-led framework specifically for NHS trust 
executive teams and boards, which it developed and uses in conjunction with NHS England / 
Improvement. Monitoring includes inspections, after which the CQC awards performance 
ratings for each domain overall, as well as the Trust overall. During 2021/22, routine activity 
for NHS trusts was limited to certain monitoring activities, with no routine inspections being 
undertaken and, as a result, the Trust has not been inspected and its overall ratings remain 
as they were in July 2019, after its last inspection: 
 

 The Trust is currently rated overall as ‘requires improvement’ 

 It is rated overall as ‘good’ for the caring and effective domains, ‘good’ for well-led, 
and ‘requires improvement’ for the safe and responsive domains 

 Eight core services were inspected in February 2019 and the CQC increased its 
ratings for six of them; all of them were rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ and the 
overall rating for Queen Charlotte’s and Chelsea Hospital was increased to 
‘outstanding’. 

 

 
Figure 1 – Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust size and scale 2021/22 

 

Page 12



3 

 

Building on the partnership working that was central to our response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, in 2022 we came together with the other three acute NHS trusts in north west 
London — Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, The Hillingdon 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust to 
form the north west London acute provider collaborative. 

Figure 2 – North west London four acute NHS Trusts and hospitals 

 

3. Western Eye Hospital overview 

Since 1856 Western Eye Hospital has been based at a number of different sites before 
finally moving to 153-173 Marylebone Road, London NW1 5QH adjacent to the former 
Samaritan Hospital for Women. 

 
Figure 3 – Main entrance to Western Eye Hospital 

Page 13



4 

 

Western Eye is a specialist eye hospital with an accident & emergency (A&E) department 
based on the ground floor that is open from 08.00 to 20.30 (between 20:30 to 08:00 
overnight acute ophthalmic emergency care is provided via the emergency departments at 
Charing Cross and St Mary’s hospitals). Facilities include outpatients, inpatients, day case 
and inpatient surgery. The A&E department is the only service of its kind in West London 
exclusively providing emergency eye treatment for both adults and children. 
 
The Western Eye and Charing Cross hospitals also serve as tertiary referral centres for the 
whole of west London and beyond. 
 
The adjacent Samaritan Hospital for women and children was closed in 1997, with services 
relocated to the nearby St Mary’s Hospital. We have been working to relocate the Western 
Eye’s ‘standalone’ services too – to bring them together with other services including wider 
A&E services – as part of a much needed redevelopment of our whole estate. All three of 
our main hospitals – St Mary’s, Charing Cross and Hammersmith – are included in the 
Government’s New Hospital Programme.  
 
The Samaritan and the Western Eye buildings are expected eventually to be sold together to 
support the Trust’s overall redevelopment programme. This will take several years as it 
requires us first to be able to permanently relocate the Western Eye services in purpose-
designed facilities on another of our sites. 
 
It would also be disproportionately expensive to bring the Samaritan building back into use. 
Instead, we constantly maintain the Western Eye building and we have made the Samaritan 
building as weather tight and secure as possible, with water, drainage, electricity and heating 
systems disconnected. 
 

4.  Ophthalmology conditions and treatments 

Age related macular degeneration (ARMD) and medical retina service (Macula Suite) 
We have specialised facilities that are dedicated to the care of these patients including a 
minor surgery suite where patients receive their ARMD eye injections. 
 
Other treatments include: 
 

 retinal laser treatment 

 photodynamic therapy 

 intravitreal drug therapy 

 close working with the vitreoretinal service for patients requiring surgical retina input 

 patients referred with wet macular degeneration are now seen, diagnosed and 
treated within two weeks of GP or direct optometrist referral via our dedicated online 
referral pathways  

 
Surgical retina and uveitis service 
The sub-specialty retinal service covers most if not all pathology related to the retina and 
vitreous. There are dedicated retinal clinics as well as specific uveitis clinics and vitreoretinal 
clinics. The surgical vitreoretinal service is the tertiary referral centre for retinal detachments 
and other retinal conditions requiring surgery for the whole of west London. 
 
Diabetic retinopathy service 
As part of the medical retina service, the diagnosis, management and treatment of diabetic 
retinopathy is also carried out at Charing Cross and Western Eye hospitals. 
 
 
 

Page 14



5 

 

 
Glaucoma 
The glaucoma service at the Western Eye Hospital is a tertiary referral centre and offers 
sub-specialty glaucoma clinics with state-of-the-art imaging facilities able to assess and 
monitor patients in detail.  
 
It offers the most recent innovative surgical treatments including trabecular bypass 
microstents and endoscopic laser, an innovative way of treating patients who are not 
adequately controlled with medical treatment alone. 
 
Integration with the Imperial College Ophthalmic Research Group means patients in the 
service have access to the latest clinical trials and translational research projects. 
 
Cataract surgery 
We are the largest provider of cataract surgery in north west London offering routine ‘low 
complexity, high volume’ as well as complex cataract procedures. 
 
Cornea and anterior segment 
Our cornea and anterior segment service provides sub-specialist clinics and tailored surgical 
solutions for all problems related to the cornea (front window of the eye), iris and lens. 
Contemporary surgical techniques including partial thickness corneal transplantation are 
performed at the Western Eye Hospital. 
 
The corneal service is one of only two centres in London offering modern excimer laser 
treatment and is a tertiary referral centre for the whole of west London and beyond. 
 
Oculoplastics 
Our oculoplastic service provides sub-specialty clinics and surgical management for the 
whole spectrum of eyelid, tear duct orbital related disorders in both adults and children. 
 
The department pioneered the use of endoscopic endonasal dacryocystorhinostomy (DCR), 
a minimally invasive surgical technique for symptomatic patients with blocked tear ducts. 
 
Neuro-ophthalmology and ocular motility 
Neuro-ophthalmology and adult strabismus clinics are run at both Charing Cross and 
Western Eye hospitals, working closely with our neurology and neuro-surgical colleagues. 
 
Paediatrics and strabismus 
Paediatric ophthalmology clinics and surgery are currently provided at the St Mary’s Hospital 
campus. Our paediatric ophthalmologists and surgical retina teams provide the retinopathy 
of prematurity service supporting premature babies and their families at St Mary’s and 
Queen Charlotte’s & Chelsea hospitals. We are one of the few services who treat premature 
babies with blinding eye disease in the neonatal units. 
 

5.  Western Eye Hospital site and services update 

In late November 2021, following an expert review of fire safety at the vacant Samaritan 
Hospital, adjacent to the Western Eye Hospital, we took the precaution of immediately 
relocating some services from the Western Eye while more detailed investigations took 
place. 
 
The concern identified was that if a fire broke out in the Samaritan building, there is potential 
for it to take hold in parts of the adjoining Western Eye building before being detected. 
 
Following receipt of the review, we closed the two areas most at risk and increased our 
security checks around the Western Eye/Samaritan buildings. As an additional precaution, 

Page 15



6 

 

we closed the whole of the lower ground, second and third floors and relocated services 
from those floors in alternative locations. This included operating theatres, the day care unit, 
pre-assessment clinic and some outpatient services. 
 
Having taken these measures we were confident that, with the addition of a team of 24/7 fire 
wardens being put in place, we could safely continue services on the ground and first floors. 
This includes our specialist A&E service and specialist outpatient services. 
 
The majority of services displaced from Western Eye Hospital were temporarily relocated to 
Charing Cross Hospital, which already provides some specialist ophthalmology care.  
 
In the meantime, we undertook detailed building investigations to determine next steps. 
These investigations concluded earlier this year and showed that it would be possible to 
make the site safe again within a reasonable budget and timescale. 
 
In September 2022, we announced the go ahead to a major £9m building project at the 
Western Eye Hospital which will allow us to reopen the hospital fully next spring 2023, with 
additional operating capacity to help tackle the waiting list backlog created by the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 
As well as remedial works to address the fire safety issues that led us to take 
the precautionary step of closing some parts of the hospital last year, the project will deliver: 
 

 an additional operating theatre, bringing the total to three 

 refurbished pre-assessment areas 

 refurbished pre and post operation areas. 
 
It means the Western Eye will be able to continue to provide its range of acute and specialist 
eye care in an improved environment. 
 
Services currently provided in the Western Eye building will continue to be provided there 
during the works. And services that have been relocated temporarily to Charing Cross - 
including in a mobile operating theatre - will continue there until the works are completed and 
the Western Eye fully reopens. 
 
We are extremely grateful to all our staff who have worked so hard to ensure high quality 
care for patients at all times, and to all our patients and partners for their understanding and 
support. 

Page 16



Appendix 1 

Western Eye Hospital and Ophthalmology services –  

For information 
This information was prepared by Bryan Naylor and is intended to provide context, 

and offers a patient perspective.   

 

1.    The challenges faced by Ophthalmology and 

patients.  

Ophthalmology is now the busiest specialty in the NHS.  The waiting list now 
extends to more than 10% of the total for the NHS.  The demand for services is 
increasing and forecast to rise by 20% in the next decade.    

Currently the Imperial Trust required pathway for access to treatment requires a 
GP referral.  discussions with GPs suggest that this requirement has little or no 
added value for patients and results in delay and increased risk for patients.  

Although the government plans to build 40 now hospitals, including a 
replacement for Western Eye Hospital, it is clear that these cannot be relied 
upon to address current issues of Qualified staff shortages, inadequate 
resources to improve current premises and provision and the expected 
increase in demand.  

It is clear therefore that there is an immediate and urgent need to make better 
use of the resources currently available and as part of the primary care 
integration plan, to initiate new systems and pathways which make better use 
of community resources and reduce the current workload on secondary care.  

The Fuller report contains recommendations for the development of primary 
care which recognise the development of diagnostic and treatment capacity 
becoming widely available in optometry and pharmacy services.  The concept 
of local minor eye health hubs has been trialled in London and provided a 
significant reduction in inappropriate use of ophthalmic A&E clinics.  It has also 
been suggested that much of the initial diagnostic and post treatment 
monitoring of patients could be undertaken in such hubs.  

It is recognised that such a change demands considerable planning and 
changes to both primary and secondary care pathways.  Patients report that 
local hubs would be warmly welcomed particularly when travel is reduced for 
patients experiencing the early trauma of sight loss.  

2.  “The Eyes Have It Partnership”.  
The challenges facing ophthalmology will require government action.  The need 
to represent the case to government is recognised and a partnership of 
organisations formed to undertake that role in parliament and to the policy 
makers at every level has been formed,  

Page 17



The Partnership is formed of The Macular Society, Fight for Sight, RNIB, The 
Royal College of Ophthalmologists, the Association of Optometrists and the 
pharmaceutical company Roche. 

 

Two major campaign awareness days attended by MPs and Peers of all parties 
led to the appointment by NHS England of the first National Clinical Director for 
eye care.  The appointment of Louisa Wickham, consultant ophthalmologist and 
medical director at Moorfields Eye Hospital, to this important post is warmly 
welcomed.  

Stephen Scowcroft - Director Of Services at the Macular Society has worked 
closely with the partnership and will attend the meeting and answer questions 
about the work and aims of the partnership.  

3. A patient view  
Patients describe a sight loss diagnosis as akin to that of cancer or dementia 
but without the support of Macmillan or Admiral nurses.  It can lead to feelings 
of anxiety, loneliness, isolation and loss of independence.  Referral to social 
service support relies on the registration process, making access to advice and 
aids to daily living equally uncertain.  The registration process is also difficult to 
understand and a obstacle to accessing benefits.  The need for a review to 
achieve simple, integrated pathways to clinical and social care is both urgent 
and important.  

4. Hammersmith and Fulham issues and questions  
A recent report by RNIB lists the following information in respect 
of LBHF: 
 
Eye health stats for local Integrated Care System  

  Total outpatient appointments:      109,200 

  Total inpatient procedures:      8,560 

 
Sight loss stats  

  Number of people estimated to be living with sight loss:  4,190 

  2032 projection for sight loss population:    5,410 

 

These figures are broadly in line with those recorded by the 
LBHF Sensory impairment team: 
 

   Registered partially sighted:     2,630  

  Registered SSI:       510  

  Visually Impaired but not registered:    920  

Research suggests that there is a considerable additional level of sight loss 
which is unreported and a consequential need to raise awareness of the 
importance of eye care, of regular eye tests and the importance of early 
diagnosis of eye conditions.  

Page 18



However, as set out above, ophthalmic services in LBHF are already unable to 
deal effectively with the current patient workload, a raised awareness will surely 
add to the challenge.  

What plans exist at local level to raise awareness and to prepare for the 
increased demand already forecast.  What plans exist for integration with 
primary care?  

We understand the plan announced two decades ago for Western Eye hospital 
to be moved to a new facility on the St Marys site is no longer valid.  We also 
understand that there are short term plans for improvements to the hospital?  
What is the longer-term plan?  How do the ophthalmology services at Charing 
Cross fit into the plan?  

What plans if any exist to integrate primary and secondary eye care in LBHF?  

The Charing Cross ophthalmology website asks GPs “Please use NHS e-
Referrals to refer a patient to our ophthalmology service, choosing the specific 
ophthalmology specialty required.”    GPs suggest that they are not able to 
meet this requirement.  What they do is write to the clinic asking for an 
appointment.  The website then reports “The average time between GP 
referrals and treatment for 90% of patients is 40 weeks”.  What steps are 
planned to overcome these obstacles?  

As set out above, many optometry practices are now equipped and trained to 
identify eye problems.  What plans exist to integrate this capability and build 
upon it?  

Many patients report that the point of diagnosis of serious eye conditions is not 
handled well and the lack of explanation and empathy by clinical staff 
exacerbated their anxiety.  Many report that they feel processed in eye clinics.  
Patients are aware of the pressures on staff but are often left in ignorance or 
uncertainty.  What steps can be taken to ensure that patient anxiety and need 
for explanation is met?  

Low Vision Clinics are either not available, difficult to access or have long 
waiting lists.   Eye Clinic Liaison Officer posts are vacant to the detriment of 
patient care.  These ancillary posts are important to patients; What plans 
exist to fill the vacancies?  

5. Finally  
The national and local ophthalmic services are under great strain.  It may 
appear an inauspicious time to be looking for additional resources and finance.  
The need to make better use of the available resource, to organise, integrate 
and consolidate all that we have is essential - and urgent.  Every day 250 
people are diagnosed with sight loss; for them there can never be a better 
time to initiate change.  

 

 

Page 19



1 

 

 
 
 
 

Improving planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery 
in north west London 

 

Report from Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 
to the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee 
 

 

1.  Introduction 

This report to the Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee from 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (‘the Trust’) sets out the proposal from the four acute 
NHS trusts in north west London to bring together most of their routine, inpatient orthopaedic 
surgery - primarily hip and knee replacements - completely separated from emergency care 
services. 
 
The response to the Covid-19 pandemic showed what can be achieved when our four trusts 
work more collaboratively, joining up our care and making the best possible use of our 
combined expertise and resources. 
 
One of the ways we were able to maintain more planned care during the later phases of the 
pandemic was by establishing ‘fast track surgical hubs’. These were facilities within our 
hospitals that focused on specific, routine operations, separated as far as possible from 
urgent and emergency care. This meant that operations were less likely to be put on hold 
when there was pressure on our emergency services. 
 
As we come out of the pandemic with long waiting lists and many other challenges, we want 
to draw on best practice and go further with our improvements. We want to bring together 
much of the routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery for the population of north west London in 
a purpose-designed centre of excellence, completely separated from emergency care. 
 
Evidence built over many years shows that when this type of surgery is done frequently, in a 
systematic way, there is an improvement in both quality and efficiency. 
 
Clinicians and managers from across the four acute trusts have worked with GPs and other 
colleagues, as well as with patients and lay partners, to develop a detailed proposal for an 
‘elective orthopaedic centre’ – orthopaedic services have some of the longest waiting times 
in north west London. We are sharing this proposal with as many patients, local residents 
and staff as possible, to hear their views and ideas so that we can continue to improve 
health and healthcare with – and for – our local communities. 
 
This report is based on the contents of the full consultation booklet and pre-consultation 
business case which can be read by visiting the online consultation area at nwl-acute-
provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/eoc 
 

2.  What is planned inpatient orthopaedic surgery? 

Orthopaedic surgery treats damage to bones, joints, ligaments, tendons, muscles and 
nerves (the musculoskeletal system). Patients may be referred to an orthopaedic surgeon for 
a long-term condition that has developed over many years, such as osteoarthritis. 
 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5

https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/eoc
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/eoc


2 

 

Hip and knee replacements are the most common type of orthopaedic surgery offered in the 
NHS. However, other types of surgery of the hips, knees, shoulders, elbows, feet, ankles 
and hands are also types of orthopaedic surgery. 
 
Planned surgery is when patients have their operation booked in advance. It is generally 
arranged after a referral to hospital by a GP or community service followed by an 
assessment by hospital specialists in an outpatient clinic. It is sometimes called ‘elective’ or 
‘non-emergency’ care. 
 
Inpatient care describes when a patient stays in hospital while receiving medical care or 
treatment. 
 

3.  Our ambition 

We want to bring together much of the routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery for the 
population of north west London in a purpose-designed centre of excellence at Central 
Middlesex Hospital, Park Royal, completely separated from emergency care services. 
  
This means that: 
 

 Patients will have faster and fairer access to surgery and would be much less likely to 
have their operation postponed due to emergency 
care pressures. 

 Care would be of a consistently high quality, benefitting from latest best practice and 
research, provided by clinical teams that are highly skilled in their procedures. 

 The centre would be extremely efficient, enabling more patients to be treated at a 
lower cost per operation. 

 Patients will have better outcomes, experience and follow-up. 
 
In addition, capacity created in other north west London hospitals by bringing together 
routine surgery in the elective orthopaedic centre would be able to be used for surgical 
patients who have more complex needs and for other specialties. 
 

4.  Why are we suggesting changes to orthopaedic surgery? 

4.1 We need to reduce our waiting times 
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a big impact on waiting times for planned care across the 
entire NHS, particularly for orthopaedic care, which accounts for more than a quarter of 
all surgery nationally. 
 
In August 2022, more than 15,000 people were waiting for orthopaedic care in north-west 
London hospitals. Just under 3,700 of these people had had their initial assessment and 
were waiting for an operation. The proportion of people waiting more than 52 weeks for 
orthopaedic care has increased by more than a quarter during the pandemic.  
 
Even though procedures like hip or knee replacements are not usually considered to be time 
critical, waiting for treatment can badly affect your quality of life and many conditions can 
worsen over time, making treatment and recovery harder. 
 
4.2 We need all our care to be consistently of the highest quality 
Performance against national indicators for clinical outcomes and patient experience in 
northwest London is amongst the best, for some measures in some trusts. But there is much 
room for improvement in all trusts and a lot of unnecessary variance between trusts. But 
there is much room for improvement in all trusts and a lot of unnecessary variance between 
trusts. North west London hospitals are in the bottom half for many quality measures when 
ranked against all NHS trusts in England. 

Page 21



3 

 

 
Hospitals in north west London also perform relatively poorly in terms of cancellation rates 
for orthopaedic operations. This is related to the impact of urgent and emergency care 
pressure at hospitals that provide planned, urgent, and emergency care. And there is also 
wide variation across our trusts in terms of how well our operating theatres are used, 
including how much unnecessary ‘down time’ there is between operations. 
 
4.3 We need to make our care more patient focused 
Though we generally get positive feedback from patients that our staff are caring, kind and 
helpful, they are much less positive about their experience of navigating the healthcare 
system. Patients have reported frustration with long waiting times between their initial 
assessment and surgery or while attending their appointments, having to chase up their 
follow-up appointments or feeling worried due to re-scheduling or cancellations. 
 
Elderly or disabled patients often say travel to appointments is a problem. Patients also 
highlight communication problems, such as lack of coordination between GPs and hospital 
services or confusing information. Patients say they want more control over their care and 
they want us to organise our care system so that it is as clear, consistent and straight 
forward as possible. 
 
4.4 We need to help improve health and reduce health inequalities 
Musculoskeletal (MSK) disorders are the third leading contributor to the burden of disease in 
Greater London. MSK conditions are one of the most common long-term health conditions 
for the most deprived 20 per cent of the population. While many of the ways to prevent and 
limit the impact of MSK disorders sit outside the control of acute hospitals and even the 
wider NHS, improving orthopaedic surgery would particularly help older patients and patients 
from more deprived backgrounds. 
 
4.5 We need to be prepared for the future 
If we do nothing, our waiting lists will continue to grow faster than our capacity to provide 
care. By 2030 we expect the number of people waiting for orthopaedic surgery in north west 
London will increase by almost a fifth if we continue as we are now. 
 
We also want to make sure we make the most of digital and other technological advances, 
without leaving anyone behind. 
 
And it’s really important that we continue to attract and retain great staff who love their jobs, 
and to continue to build their skills and expertise. 
 

5.  How would services change? 

5.1 Current orthopaedic surgery 
All or some elements of planned orthopaedic surgical care are currently provided in nine 
hospitals in north west London. There are many differences between the hospitals. Some 
have A&E departments and intensive care units and special types of operating theatres and 
so are suitable for more complex types of surgery and for operations on patients with more 
complex needs. These hospitals are also more affected by urgent and emergency care 
pressures. Other hospitals have more dedicated day-case surgery facilities, suitable for less 
complex surgery. 
 
Currently, where you go if you need orthopaedic surgery depends to a large degree on 
where you live and whether you have any preferences. But the complexity of your needs and 
the surgery you require also have an impact. For example, if you have a number of other 
health problems which means you are at more risk from surgery, you will need to have your 
operation at a hospital with more intensive after-care services.  
 

Page 22



4 

 

Current provision of planned orthopaedic surgical care in north west London: 

 
 

5.2 Our proposal 
The proposed elective orthopaedic centre would bring together most ‘routine’ orthopaedic 
inpatient surgery for patients who are otherwise generally well – an example of what is 
known as ‘low complexity, high volume’ surgery. There are around 4,000 operations of this 
type in north west London each year. Evidence built over many years shows that when this 
type of surgery is done frequently, in a systematic way, there is an improvement in both 
quality and efficiency. 
 
Outpatient care (including pre-operative assessment and post-operative rehabilitation and 
follow up) would continue to be provided as and where it is now. And day case and complex 
surgery would continue in the hospitals where they are provided currently. 
 
If a patient can have their operation at the elective orthopaedic centre, their end-to-end care 
would remain under the surgical team based at their ‘home’ orthopaedic hospital. Their 
‘home’ surgical team would travel with them to undertake the surgery, supported by the 
centre’s permanent clinical support team and an electronic patient record system that is 
shared by all the hospitals in north west London. This would help provide joined up care and 
make sure that expertise continues to be developed across the surgical teams in north west 
London. 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



5 

 

Proposed provision of planned orthopaedic surgical care in north west London: 

 
 
We calculate around 4,000 inpatient operations per year could be provided at an elective 
orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital following a systematised ‘high volume, low 
complexity’ approach. This would enable the centre to provide routine surgery for all patients 
with low complexity needs who currently have these operations in north west London 
hospitals (see table). 
 

Low complexity inpatient orthopaedic operations in north west London hospitals by borough 
of patients (2019): 

 Borough Number of operations 

 Brent 687 

 Ealing 714 

 Hammersmith and Fulham 333 

 Harrow 430 

 Hillingdon 665 

 Hounslow 381 

 Kensington and Chelsea 235 

 Westminster 244 

 Boroughs outside of north west London 532 

 Total 4,221 

Page 24



6 

 

The elective orthopaedic centre would offer only low complexity, planned inpatient surgery. 
Complex inpatient surgery would be out of scope, as would joint revisions (for when a hip or 
knee replacement needs to be repaired or replaced again) and spinal surgery. Spinal 
surgery in north west London is provided through a separate centralised service run by 
Imperial College Healthcare’s neurosurgical service made up of neurosurgeons as well as 
orthopaedic surgeons. Children’s orthopaedic surgery is also out of scope. 
 
Day case surgery has been excluded currently on the basis that there is greater benefit from 
shorter travel distances on the day of surgery. Day case surgery and some complex surgery 
provided by London North West University Healthcare would continue at Central Middlesex 
Hospital as that is also one of their ‘home’ orthopaedic hospitals. 
 

 
 

6.  How was Central Middlesex Hospital selected as the proposed location and 
what would it mean for patients? 

We assessed all of the NHS acute hospital sites in north west London (excluding the 
specialist Western Eye and Queen Charlotte’s and Chelsea hospitals), as well as the 
possibility of using non-NHS sites. 

A single elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital was found to be the best 
option as: 

 It is a modern and high-quality estate which, with some limited expansion and 
remodelling, could offer a 41-bed facility tailored to systematised surgery 

 It is one of only two hospitals in north west London that does not provide urgent and 
emergency care, so is much less impacted by urgent and emergency care pressures 

 None of the existing services would need to be moved as there is plenty of room for 
expansion. 

 
We undertook detailed analysis of the average time to travel to each of our hospitals from all 
parts of north west London. 
 
We found that Central Middlesex Hospital has: 

 The shortest median (midpoint) travel time by car at 22 minutes 

 The second shortest median (midpoint) travel time by public transport at 45 minutes. 

We estimate it would cost around £9.4 million to expand capacity and make the building 
changes at Central Middlesex Hospital. This includes the cost of building two additional 
laminar flow operating theatres, creating a larger recovery unit and remodelling some parts 
of the existing estate. 
 

Key case study 

South west London elective orthopaedic centre 

Since 2004, planned orthopaedic surgery across south west London has been 
consolidated at SWLEOC (South West Elective Orthopaedic Centre), a centre of 
excellence for orthopaedic surgery. SWLEOC is a partnership between four acute 
trusts and is the largest hip and knee replacement centre in the UK, providing 
elective orthopaedic surgery services for 1.5 million people across the region with 
around 5,200 procedures a year. The facility is located on the Epsom Hospital site 
but is self-contained with 71 beds and a high dependency unit. The Care Quality 
Commission has rated the service as outstanding – its highest rating. 

 

Page 25



7 

 

7.  Benefits and challenges 

7.1 Care and quality benefits 
The development of an elective orthopaedic centre for north west London would help clinical 
teams to provide orthopaedic surgical care: 

 that consistently meets national best practice standards by having greater 
specialisation in specific operations 

 that is more efficient by taking a more systematised approach, drawing on national 
best practice 

 that separates planned orthopaedic surgery from urgent and emergency services, in 
line with guidance and policy from NHS England, Royal College of Surgeons and the 
National Clinical Advisory Team 

 that makes best use of the facilities and skills of the four acute trusts that supports 
surgical skills training and new role development as well as better and more flexible 
ways of working 

 that supports continuous improvement and innovation. 
 
7.2 Patient experience benefits 
As well as improved quality of care, the proposed changes in planned orthopaedic inpatient 
surgery would: 

 support faster and fairer access for patients who need orthopaedic surgery across 
northwest London 

 prevent conditions from getting worse when waiting a long time for surgery 

 mean fewer postponed operations due to urgent and emergency care pressures 

 help care to be more joined up across the whole of the musculoskeletal care pathway 

 support more focus on care before and after surgery to help reduce the risks of 
surgery and enable faster recovery. 

 
7.3 Staff benefits 
While the development of an elective orthopaedic centre would require change for many 
staff working in this specialty, it would: 

 support the development of both planned and urgent and emergency surgical skills 
across all the north west London teams 

 allow greater specialisation in skills for staff based permanently in the centre 

 support more focus on research, education and innovation 

 facilitate the development of new roles and ways of working. 
 
7.4 Challenges 
We know that with any change there may be some disadvantages for some people. We think 
the key challenges for this proposal would be: 

 some patients would have to travel further to get to and from Central Middlesex 
Hospital to have their operation 

 some visitors would also have to travel further 

 some staff would have to work in a different hospital to the one they work in now and 
may need to work on different sites on different days 

 people with additional needs (such as those with a learning disability or dementia) 
could find it confusing to have their inpatient surgery in a different, possibly 
unfamiliar, hospital. 

Page 26



8 

 

 
We are developing plans to minimise these challenges, looking at how other centres have 
developed solutions. For example, the South West London Elective Orthopaedic Centre, 
established in 2004, has a contract in place with a local taxi firm to provide transport for 
patients who would otherwise struggle to get there and back home. We are also very keen to 
get your ideas through the consultation events and survey. 
 
We also heard concerns in our earlier discussions with patients and local communities that a 
greater use of digital services and apps could leave some patients behind. We are exploring 
potential dedicated roles for digital coaches and care co-ordinators as part of the further 
detailed planning for the proposed elective orthopaedic centre. 
 

8.  How the proposals could affect different communities in north west London 

When the NHS proposes changes to services, we need to make sure we take into account 
the needs of everyone who uses or will use these services in future. 
 
As part of our work in developing the proposal we have carried out an equalities and health 
impact assessment (EHIA) and a travel analysis and we have compiled feedback to date 
from patients and local communities. This includes the outcome of conversations with just 
over 70 people this summer about bone and joint care in north west London and some early 
feedback on the possibility of a dedicated centre for planned orthopaedic surgery. 
 
What some community members told us so far 
People understand the need to reduce waiting times and support work to enable this to 
happen as quickly as possible, even if it means travelling further to be seen faster. 

 A dedicated centre for routine orthopaedic surgery was seen as a good idea, 
particularly as a way of maximising staff time and developing clinical expertise. 

 Our patients generally praised acute care and most of the concerns raised were in 
relation to pathways into hospital care. We have shared these insights widely with 
lead clinicians and partners within the north west London healthcare system to inform 
how the implementation of issues, as well as informing improvement and 
transformation projects, such as a project to improve and standardise the provision of 
community musculoskeletal services. 

 Some concerns were raised about ease of travel into Central Middlesex Hospital, 
particularly for those with further to travel. We are exploring how we can improve 
accessibility to the site. 

 
We now want to have conversations with as many people as possible who may be affected 
by the proposed change. We would like to hear from a diverse mix of the population who 
would be served by the proposed elective orthopaedic centre, particularly those identified as 
being most at risk of barriers to access or poorer health outcomes,and including those 
belonging to disadvantaged groups or sharing one or more protected characteristic. 
 

 People in the 45+ age group who are already on our waiting lists and their 
families/carers – this group makes up most of the target population for the elective 
orthopaedic centre. Our involvement activities indicate that we need to focus on 
increasing participation from people most likely to be suitable for routine surgery. 

 People with more complex health care needs - who may face specific challenges in 
accessing orthopaedic services and navigating the healthcare system, such as: 

o people who are disabled or who have hearing impairments, learning 
disabilities or autism 

o people with a mix of health needs, such as hypertension and diabetes 

Page 27



9 

 

o people with mental health related issues. 

 Black, Asian and other minoritised groups – people from minoritised ethnic groups 
(particularly those for whom English is their 
second language) are more likely to report poorer outcomes. The Covid-19 pandemic 
has further highlighted structural disadvantages faced by these groups. We need to 
make sure our plans for the elective orthopaedic centre do not deepen these 
inequalities. 

 LGBTQIA+ groups – high incidences of prejudice experienced by people identifying 
as LGBTQIA+, including negative attitudes from healthcare professionals, may 
prevent individuals from accessing treatment. 

 Groups likely to incur longer travel times – while Central Middlesex Hospital site has 
the shortest average travel time by car and the second shortest average travel time 
by public transport, there is variation in travel times for residents across the 
boroughs. We need to ensure we understand views on accessibility from across 
the sector. 

 Residents living in the most deprived areas – deprivation can be a barrier in access 
to healthcare and our EHIA indicates that over a half of the north west London 
population are more deprived than the national average, with a particular 
concentration of high deprivation in the middle of the geographical region. 

 

9.  How would our staff be affected by this proposal? 

As we move forward with public consultation, we will also be stepping up engagement with 
staff and partners to develop the detail of care pathways, staffing models and training and 
support plans for the proposed elective orthopaedic centre. 
 
Based on what we know works well in other centres, we envision a staffing model where 
some staff – such as ward, theatre and administrative staff – would be based permanently at 
Central Middlesex Hospital. Then other staff – primarily surgeons – would move with ‘their’ 
patients from their ‘home’ orthopaedic care to the elective orthopaedic centre to undertake 
the surgery. 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, we would undertake a formal consultation with the staff who 
are affected. Other types of planned orthopaedic care will continue at all hospitals that 
currently provide planned orthopaedic care and so we would continue to need orthopaedic 
staff in these hospitals. 
 

10. Public consultation 

The four acute NHS trusts in north west London – Chelsea and Westminster NHS 
Foundation Trust, The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Imperial College 
Healthcare NHS Trust and London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust – work in 
partnership as the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative. 
 
We have gathered some ideas and views from patients and community groups that have 
helped inform this proposal for an elective orthopaedic centre. We are now carrying out a 
formal 14-week public consultation programme to inform a decision on whether the proposal 
should be progressed and how it could be improved.  
 
We want to get the views of as many patients, residents, staff and partners as possible to 
inform our plans during our public consultation – running between Wednesday 19 October 
2022 and Friday 20 January 2023. 
 
 

Page 28



10 

 

We would like to hear views on: 

 Whether we have developed the best possible solution to the current challenges in 
providing planned orthopaedic surgery in north west London 

 Are we doing all we can to ensure that services are of the best quality 

 Are we doing the right things to ensure everyone who needs care can access it in a 
timely way 

 Whether there are more things we could do to make services responsive and tailor 
them for those with specific needs 

 
We are particularly seeking views on the challenges to our proposals – we want to minimise 
them, looking at how other areas have developed solutions, and are keen to get more ideas. 
We are also interested to receive alternative proposals to the solution we have laid out. 
 
All feedback will be evaluated by Verve Communications, an independent company who 
have been engaged to receive and evaluate feedback regardless of how it is submitted. 
 
There are a range of ways to take part: 

 Find out more – using information on our website nwl-acute-provider-
collaborative@nhs.uk 

 Complete a questionnaire – via our online survey on our website or a hard copy to be 
returned using the Freepost address below 

 Write to us – at FREEPOST: HEALTHIER NORTH WEST LONDON or email 
nhsnwl.eoc@nhs.net 

 Give us a call – on 020 3311 7733 

 Come to one of our events – we are holding community meetings and drop-in 
sessions in each borough as well as sector-wide online events. 

 
Events in Hammersmith & Fulham: 

 Community meeting 
Wednesday 16 November 2022, 16.30 – 18.30 
Irish Cultural Centre, 5 Black's Rd, London W6 9DT 
 

 Community drop-in sessions 
o Wednesday 9 November 2022, 10.00 – 14.00, Shepherd’s Bush Library 
o Monday 16 January 2023, 09.00 – 13.00, Charing Cross Hospital 

 
Online public meetings: 

 Tuesday 15 November 2022, 19.00 – 20.30 

 Thursday 12 January 2023, 19.00 – 20.30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

mailto:nwl-acute-provider-collaborative@nhs.uk
mailto:nwl-acute-provider-collaborative@nhs.uk


11 

 

Poster promoting public consultation events in Hammersmith & Fulham: 

 
 

12. Next steps after the consultation  

The Integrated Care Board in North West London is called NHS North West London. It is the 
statutory NHS organisation responsible for developing a plan that meets the health needs of 
the local population, managing the NHS budget and arranging for the provision of health 
services in north west London. They – and NHS England London – have given the go ahead 
for this consultation following a review of a ’pre-consultation business case’ developed by 
the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative. 
 
After the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative has considered everyone’s views 
on the proposal, they will produce a consultation outcome report. This will be used to 
develop a ‘decision-making business case’. NHS North West London will then consider the 
decision-making business case and its recommendations in order to decide whether to 
implement the proposal, update the proposal or find an alternative solution. 
 

13. What are the timescales?  

We have prioritised the development of this proposal in order to tackle the backlog in our 
waiting lists and improve the quality of orthopaedic care as quickly as possible.  
 
After consulting with a wide range of people likely to be affected by the proposed changes, 
we would like to take a decision on whether or not to proceed to implementation by early 
2023. If the decision is to proceed, a period for contracting and construction would follow, 
with the elective orthopaedic centre able to open by autumn 2023. 

Page 30



 
 

THE LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM 
 

Report to: Health and Adult Social Care Policy & Accountability Committee 

Date:  16 November 2022 
 
Subject: West London NHS Trust Update 
  
Author: Dr Christopher Hilton, Chief Operating Officer - Local and Specialist Services  
   
Responsible Director: Dr Christopher Hilton, West London NHS Trust 

  

1 Summary 
 

This report provides information for HASPAC members to consider: 
 
a) The recent Care Quality Commission inspection of West London NHS Trust’s Community 

Mental Health Services for Adults of Working Age and the actions under way by the Trust 
to address areas of concern 
 

b) West London NHS Trust’s current enhanced engagement activities regarding making a 
permanent decision regarding acute adult mental health inpatient beds in Ealing which 
were suspended in 2020 

 
c) An appendix of information provided following a presentation to the Committee earlier in 

the year. 
 

 

2 Recommendations 
 
For the Committee to note and comment on the report.  
 

 
Wards Affected: ALL 

 

 
 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Values 

Building shared prosperity Better supporting residents with a wide 
range of mental health needs to receive 
timely and effective support  

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

Involvement of local residents in mental 
health services transformation 

 
 

2.1.1 Contact Officers 
This paper is provided by West London NHS Trust 
Dr Christopher Hilton, Executive Director of Local Services. 
christopher.hilton@westlondon.nhs.uk 
  

Page 31

Agenda Item 6

mailto:christopher.hilton@westlondon.nhs.uk


 
 

 

Hammersmith and Fulham Health and Adult Social Care 
Policy and Accountability Committee 
West London NHS Trust - Update 

 
1. Purpose 

 
The purpose of this report is to provide information for HASPAC members to consider: 
 
1.1. The recent Care Quality Commission inspection of West London NHS Trust’s 

Community Mental Health Services for Adults of Working Age and the actions under way 
by the Trust to address areas of concern 
 

1.2. West London NHS Trust’s current enhanced engagement activities regarding making a 
permanent decision regarding acute adult mental health inpatient beds in Ealing which 
were suspended in 2020 

 
1.3. An appendix of information requested following a presentation to the Committee earlier 

in the year. 
 
2. Care Quality Commission 

 
2.1. The Care Quality Commission carried out an announced inspection of Community-based 

mental health services for adults of working age from 26-28 April 2022 and their full 
report was published on 14 July 2022. 
 
The full report can be accessed on the West London NHS Trust section of the Care 
Quality Commission website: https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RKL/reports  

 
2.2. Inspectors visited two Early Intervention in Psychosis Services (EIS) in Hounslow and 

Ealing. They also visited four Mental Health Integrated Network Teams (MINT), including 
two Ealing teams, one Hounslow team and the team in Hammersmith and Fulham 
South (based in the Claybrook Centre). 
 

2.3. Ratings:  
 

The overall rating of West London NHS Trust remained the same and is good overall. 
 
The overall rating of the area of service inspected (one of ten service areas rated within 
the Trust) remained the same and is requires improvement overall. 
 
Within the specific service area, two domains within the key lines of enquiry (caring - 
good, and responsive – requires improvement) remained the same, however the rating 
within three domains fell (safe – inadequate, effective – requires improvement, and well-
led – requires improvement). 
 
The CQC table below summarises the overall CQC ratings for West London NHS Trust. 

Page 32

https://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RKL/reports


 
 

 
 
2.4. Background 

 
The Committee will recall from a presentation given at the meeting in January 2022 that 
in 2021 in Hammersmith and Fulham a number of existing mental health services were 
brought together to form geographically aligned Mental Health Integrated Network 
Teams (MINT) following receipt of additional investment to deliver a new nationally 
developed model of mental health care known as the Community Mental Health 
Framework for Adults and Older Adults (https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/the-
community-mental-health-framework-for-adults-and-older-adults/)  

  

Page 33

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/the-community-mental-health-framework-for-adults-and-older-adults/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/the-community-mental-health-framework-for-adults-and-older-adults/


 
 

 
 

Previous functions MINT teams 

- Non-urgent work within a 3-borough 
Mental Health Single Point of 
Access (providing advice and 
navigation) 

- One small Primary care mental 
health team supporting primary 
care practices and individuals 
discharged from secondary care 

- One Assessment Service (Tier 2 
Crisis and Assessment Team) 

- One Treatment and Recovery 
Team based in the Claybrook 
Centre 
 

+ Additional investment to expand  
- Peer support services 
- Psychological therapies 
- &c. 

All of these functions were re-organised 
into three Mental health Integrated 
Network Teams: 
 

- North – supporting the North H&F 
primary care network (PCN) 

- Central – supporting HF 
Partnership PCN and H&F Central 
PCN 

- South – Supporting South Fulham 
PCN and Babylon GP@Hand 

 
The previous presentation outlined the overall vision for the service as well as number of 
challenges being experienced following the transformation, in particular: 
 
- Vacancy rates  
- Higher rates of referral than discharge, resulting in lengthy waiting times for routine 
appointments. 
- Challenges tracking data across two electronic records systems (System One for the 
majority of cases, and Rio for complex cases) 
- recovery of services following the early stages of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
We described an executive led action plan to oversee remedial actions. 
 
Subsequently a Level 1 risk was added to the Trust’s Risk Register, to be overseen by 
the Quality Committee, due to concern that “the impact of the transformation towards the 
new Community Mental Health Framework may cause risks to patient pathways and 
impact upon responsiveness, safety and effectiveness of care … until fully implemented 
and embedded”  
 
The CQC visited in April 2022. 

 
2.5. Positive findings 

 
The CQC noted that although areas of concern were identified during the inspection, 
senior managers were already aware of these issues which had been identified through 
the governance processes within the Trust and were working to make the necessary 
improvements. 
 
The CQC noted that the Trust remained committed to delivering all the elements of the 
Framework by 2024 and acknowledged that there had been more challenges 
encountered during the transformation than anticipated, but some of these were the 
result of external factors which were not within the Trust’s control, such as delays to the 
interoperability of separate IT systems. 
 
The inspectors highlighted a number of positive findings related to the EIS services and 

Page 34



 
 

in MINT found the range of treatments provided was informed by best-practice guidance 
and suitable for the needs of patients. They noted that compared to the remit of the 
previous (Recovery) teams, the range of needs the MINT teams worked with was very 
broad. 
 
The inspectors noted that the teams included or had access to the full range of 
specialists including peer support workers who met the needs of the patients, and they 
found that staff worked well together as a multidisciplinary team and with relevant 
services outside the organisation.  

 
The inspectors met with eight patients and six carers and attended and observed 
meetings and spoke with 44 staff. Overall, feedback from patients was very positive 
about the care and treatment they received from staff. Patients reported to the inspectors 
that staff were kind and caring and that they felt involved in their care.  
 
Most patients interviewed by the Inspectors had received services from the Trust for a 
number of years – they described an improvement since the MINT transformation. 
However, patients reported that they were not well informed of the changes during the 
transformation and did not immediately understand the new model, but that the new 
service provided effective interventions and good quality of care. Some patients also fed 
back that there had been multiple changes to their care-coordinator. 
 
The Inspectors described as “outstanding practice” that the Trust had been actively 
working to address health inequalities, and the allocated budgets for the new MINT 
teams reflected population rather than demand in recognition that some groups had 
traditionally not received adequate mental health support. Collaborative work between 
LBHF, the Trust and SOBUS was referenced in the arrangements for funding some local 
third sector organisations so people could receive support tailored to their needs and to 
reach out to seldom-heard groups in order to redress health inequalities.  
 
The Inspectors also acknowledged work which had resulted in clinical space being 
provided in two local football clubs (Queens Park Rangers and Brentford) making them 
more accessible and at the heart of communities.  
 

2.6. Areas of concern 
The main areas of concern identified during the inspection were in relation to the MINT 
service: 
 

- Overall vacancy rates ranged from 25-25% and this made it difficult for the 
services to provide consistent, high quality service. 

 
- Risk assessments for some patients were brief and did not always explain how a 

risk was mitigated or followed-up in a timely manner. 
 

- Trust waiting time targets for seeing patients were not met and delays for 
patients accessing treatment were significant. 

 
- Staff were using two electronic record systems, which was time-consuming, 

over-complicated and caused frustration for staff. At the time of the inspection this 
resulted in poor data quality which did not facilitate sufficient oversight of 
outcomes and performance. 

 
- Staff did not follow safety protocols for lone working. 

 
- Some of the clinical premises (primarily Ealing and Hounslow) were not well 

maintained and one did not have panic alarms fitted. 
Page 35



 
 

 
- Supervision rates were poor, with the potential for staff to feel unsupported as a 

result and some staff training had a low compliance rate. This reflected the Trust’s 
decision to suspend some face to face courses during the first two years of the 
Covid-19 pandemic leading to a backlog of compliance. 

 
- The Trust received a seven must do actions in relation to three areas of 

regulation. 
 

2.7. Action plan and progress to date  
 

In response to the areas of concern, a number of actions are under way: 
 

- Vacancy rates 
Actions are underway between HR and service managers to support transfer of 
staff from agency to NHS employment, and to provide supplementary recruitment 
support. 
Trust wide approaches to addressing our vacancy position including enhancing 
our training and development and staff reward and retention packages, 
highlighting our positive staff survey results, collaborative work with North West 
London partners, recruitment events nationally attracting international recruits 
including refugee nursing staff, and developing new roles including Graduate 
Mental Health Workers. 
 
Across Hammersmith and Fulham, the vacancy rate in community mental health 
services remains 26% across all disciplines. 
 

- Risk assessments 
The Trust is implementing a new method for formulating and recording clinical 
risks within our electronic records systems.  
Risk management protocols for each team are being revised and regular audits 
are in place to address the quality of risk management plans, missed opportunities 
for interventions where MINT patients require crisis care. 
 

- Referral to treatment 
The Trust’s Business Intelligence Team have completed intensive work to improve 
the quality of combined data reports from the two electronic patient record 
systems, and additional administrative support has been provided to support 
recording of contacts and intensively to manage waiting lists. 
New processes have been developed to ensure that cases requiring urgent 
intervention can be seen by Duty workers. 
 
As of October 2022, in Hammersmith and Fulham there are now a little over 3,000 
cases open to MINT and rates of referral have stabilised overall and in most 
areas. 
 

Page 36



 
 

 
 

 
 
Average waiting times in Hammersmith and Fulham MINT are 64 days which 
remains in excess of Trust targets. Monitoring is in place for patients who are at 
risk of being lost to follow-up  
 

- Electronic patient records 
The Trust has commissioned a piece of external work to plan the consolidation of 
all work within MINT onto one electronic patient record system (System One), 
shared with primary care, with additional features to support care of patients with 
more complex needs. 
Additional training and IT development staff have been recruited to develop the 
system and provide onsite training for clinicians to use the functions most 
effectively. 
Interoperability tools are now in place allowing System One users to view selected 
data from Rio without leaving the patient record. This tool also allows other 
system partners (e.g. Imperial NHS Trust) with permissions to access selected 
information from within their own clinical record (Cerner) to support sharing of 
information to deliver care. 
 

- Lone working 
Lone working guidance has been revised and recirculated, local health and safety 
champions have been identified within teams, and audits have been established 
to test improved compliance with policies. 
 

- Clinical premises 
Estates works are under way in Ealing and Brentford to refurbish the offending 
premises and ensure safety equipment in place. The Claybrook Centre has 
recently been refurbished to improve staff accommodation and ability to work in 
an agile way. 
 

- Supervision and training Page 37



 
 

A local group now oversees a QI programme to improve rates of supervision and 
training compliance. 
 
Supervision rates in October 2022 across MINT Services has improved to 
39.58%. 
 
Training rates across community mental health services continue to improve, 
including for courses highlighted by inspectors. Out of 24 areas of mandatory 
training for staff groups, 8 show >90% compliance, 9 have 80-90% compliance, 
and only one course has <60% compliance. 
 

- The Trust continues to monitor rates of concerns, complaints, incidents and 
serious incidents across our services. 
 

2.8. Summary 
 
The Trust welcomed the findings of the CQC report and is determined to use the findings 
as an opportunity to grow and build on service delivery and improvement. We were 
pleased the report acknowledged our caring staff and we firmly believe we can continue 
to make the focussed changes needed consistently to deliver high quality standards for 
local residents. 

  

Page 38



 
 

 
3. Ealing Adult Acute Mental Health Beds – Enhanced Engagement 

 
3.1. Background 

 
From 2013 to March 2020, adults of working age living in Hammersmith and Fulham, 
Hounslow and Ealing in need of inpatient mental health care were admitted to one of: 
  

- Wolsey Wing, St. Bernard’s Hospital, adjacent to Ealing Hospital 
- Hammersmith & Fulham Mental Health Unit, adjacent to Charing Cross Hospital  
- Lakeside Mental Health Unit in Hounslow, adjacent to West Middlesex University 

Hospital  
 

Over the year running up to February 2020, 552 Ealing residents were admitted to adult 
inpatient mental health care. Of these 23% were treated in Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 
In the early stages of the Covid-19 pandemic (March 2020), the Trust suspended the use 
of the 31 inpatient beds and Health Based Place of Safety (s136 suite) in the Wolsey 
Wing on a temporary basis. This was done to ensure safe staffing levels and rigorous 
infection and control measures for patients and staff across the three boroughs.  

 
The Trust diverted all of the resources made available through the suspension of these 
beds to open a new 18-bed inpatient ward (Robin ward) in Lakeside Mental Health Unit, 
Hounslow, which better meets modern standards of care dignity and privacy; and provide 
dedicated staffing for the Health Based Places of Safety in Hounslow and in 
Hammersmith and Fulham Mental Health Units.  

 
In addition, the Trust has also opened nine additional mental health beds in supported 
living settings across the three boroughs. Known as step-down beds, these provide 
rehabilitation and reablement settings for individuals discharge from the mental health 
wards and before people move back to their own communities. This remains the current 
position. 
 
We continued to deliver other regional specialist services on the Ealing Hospital site, 
including in Thames Lodge (opened in 2016) and The Orchard (opened in 2007), which 
are modern facilities designed for forensic mental health. 

 
3.2. The Case for Change 

 
The physical environment in the Wolsey Wing, built in 1829 before the NHS was founded, 
has been described as “not fit for delivering modern health care” and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) has been critical in their inspections over the years and commented 
that despite the very best efforts of staff, the wards based in the Wolsey Wing did not 
promote privacy, dignity and recovery and struggled to meet the equality, accessibility 
and quality standards that are essential for safe and effective clinical care.  
 
The Trust is committed to providing inpatient care in a modern environment, conducive to 
recovery, so that people can return as soon as possible to their local communities and 
stay well, supported by a range of easily accessible services.  

 
3.3. Progress 

 
In December 2021, the Trust began work on a business case to develop a permanent 
solution for the wards and future provision of adult acute inpatient mental health care.  

 
Through earlier phases of the project, we have clarified the scope and set up of the work 

Page 39



 
 

required, mapped impacts and stakeholders with outcome modelling, collated qualitative 
and quantitative insights, carried out early engagement with service users, carers and 
wider communities, as well as staff, commissioners, the local authority, and NHS England 
/ Improvement.  

 
This led to development of a case for change, development, scoring, shortlisting and 
selection of possible options (that incorporated the early feedback received) and provided 
greater clarity on the specific groups to further engage in moving towards a decision on 
the future of the wards.  

 
We are now progressing to the fourth and penultimate phase, the purpose of which is to 
carry out wider engagement to inform final decision-making. During this engagement 
phase, we are seeking to broaden our engagement to build on earlier engagement 
findings and inform the outcomes including mitigation measures that ensure equality of 
access for affected residents in our boroughs. 

 
3.4 The preferred option 
 

The preferred option would mean services continue to be provided from Robin ward and 
Hope and Horizon wards are permanently closed.  
 
Reinvestments would continue into Robin ward, HBPOS services in Hammersmith and 
Fulham and Hounslow, step-down pathways and other crisis care, as is currently the 
case.  
 
The Trust would continue to offer adult and older adult inpatient mental health care from 
226 beds across its three boroughs with 55 beds in Ealing (Dementia services and 
Recovery House for 3 boroughs), 89 beds in Hounslow (inpatient beds for adults of 
working age) and 82 beds in Hammersmith and Fulham (inpatient beds for adults of 
working age, inpatient beds for older adults for 3 boroughs, and a 3 borough psychiatric 
intensive care unit). Each borough would continue to make use of step-down capacity as 
required, which are not included in the bed numbers described. 
 
Overall this represents a reduction of 13 adult acute mental health beds overall. 
 
All funding would remain ringfenced for acute, crisis and community-based services 
across the Trust’s catchment population.  
 
The Trust is committed to invest all additional funds from Mental Health Investment 
Standards in developing additional local solutions, based on feedback received in this 
proposal development process. It remains a priority that patients are not admitted to 
inappropriate out of area placements for adult inpatient mental health care, and it remains 
the case that West London NHS Trust has not required any unwarranted use of out of 
area placements for several years. 
 

3.5 Our proposed approach for enhanced engagement 
 

During this wider engagement we will be seeking feedback on the proposal, to identify 
any areas we have not already considered. We will also be testing the solutions that are 
being developed to mitigate perceived impacts on different communities and looking into 
any additional solutions that have not yet come forward.  
 
We will use a blend of communication and engagement activities that are tailored to the 
audience we are aiming to reach.  
 
The engagement methods we propose to use in the phase are: 

Page 40



 
 

- Webinars and online events 
- Focus groups and one to one interviews 
- Survey 
- Briefings 
- Attending meetings and forums  
- Writing to service users 
- Posters and documents on hospital sites 
- Non digital channels (postal address)  
- Existing networks and contact 

 
We do not anticipate any significant impact for residents of Hammersmith and Fulham, 
other than they would no longer in future be at risk of admission to the Wolsey Wing in 
Ealing which we believe not to be a suitable environment for the provision of modern 
mental healthcare. The preferred option is selected, this will secure permanently the 
enhanced staffing that has been put into place in the Hammersmith and Fulham HBPOS. 

 
Key findings from the early Equality Health Impact Assessment and travel analysis have 
identified several groups of Ealing residents most likely to be impacted (but not 
disproportionately affected) by proposal. In this engagement phase, we will continue to 
seek to engage with these groups to ensure that we fully understand and include their 
perspectives. 
 
This phase of engagement is planned to run for 10-12 weeks, following a decision from 
the WLT board to approve this approach, and a presentation at the North West London 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. We welcome the opportunity to share our 
plans with the Hammersmith and Fulham Health and Adult Social Care Policy and 
Accountability Committee, and plan similarly to discuss with partners in Ealing and 
Hounslow.  
 

3.5 Rationale for a wider engagement approach 
 

To date, stakeholder engagement has supported developing options for change and 
options appraisal criteria. Service user and voluntary sector representatives were also 
involved in the shortlisting of options into a single preferred option. Those most affected 
by any changes to the service have been involved to understand experiences of the 
service at Hope and Horizon and the change since moving services temporarily, due to 
COVID. 
 
Feedback from our early engagement phase has showed strong support for the need to 
change and agreement that Hope and Horizon wards are not fit for purpose. There has 
been broad understanding of the case for change. Therefore, after having sought 
guidance from NHS England, the Trust believes a period of wider, enhanced, 
engagement is most appropriate for the scale of change. This approach satisfies legal 
duties and obligations, further details of which can be found in the Enhanced 
Engagement Plan. 
 
This enhanced engagement period focuses on understanding, from the wider community 
served by the Trust; the impacts of implementing the single preferred option, testing the 
mitigations that the Trust are considering putting in place and if there are any further 
considerations within the preferred option that need to be explored. 
 
 

3.5 Next steps and moving towards a decision 
 

Following completion of the enhanced engagement phase, a post engagement report will 
be produced in January 2023, that summarises the activities and findings from the phase 

Page 41



 
 

and how any feedback will be taken forward in the final phase of the project which will 
focus on decision making and implementation.  
 
The final outcomes are expected to be presented for decision making to Ealing Scrutiny 
Committee in February 2023. 
 
 

3.5 Additional documents 
 

Committee members may wish to review the full suite of documents related to this subject 
which are available publicly at: 
 
https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/ealingmhbeds  
 
This includes: 

- an Enhanced Engagement Document 
- Summary slides 
- Business Case / Case for Change 
- Early Engagement Feedback Report. 
- Video materials describing the Wolsey Wing and Robin Ward 

 
 
 
 

Dr Christopher Hilton 
November 2022 

 
 

Page 42

https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/ealingmhbeds


Actions and follow ups from 26
th

 January 2022 meeting - Appendix 

Action Update October 22 

 
1.WLT to provide more workforce data to 
better understand the sustainability of the 
MINT service. 
 
How had the trust modelled the MINT 
service to maintain national standard 
response times?  
 

 
The Trust modelled MINT with the support of an external 
consultancy based on historical performance in the 
combined Assessment and Recovery Teams, distributing 
existing and new resources informed by population 
mental health prevalence.  
 
Scenarios were based on then considered valid 
expectations of the model and three key assumptions:  

 sustainable caseload size  

 expected demand  

 and staff productivity - average contacts per day 
(@4/day)  

 
Currently caseload size remains higher than modelled, as 
transition to shared care hasn’t led to as many transfers 
back to primary care as anticipated. Average contacts 
per day remain below 4/day. Following the transition and 
pandemic we also experienced higher than anticipated 
demand as well as lower capacity due to qualified staff 
vacancies. 
 
As these factors are addressed we remain of the view 
that the model will be sustainable. 
 
Workforce data for LBHF MINT teams was provided in 
presentation in January (slide 6) showing the breakdown 
of staff in the borough by discipline and vacancy rates. 
Headline vacancy rates have been updated within the 
paper presented in November 2022. 
 
As part of the action plan in response to the CQC report, 
team structures are under review and actions are 
underway to address 
 

 
2. For WLT to meet with HAFSON and 
committee representatives to explore the 
operational delivery and engagement 
aspects of the single point of access.  
 

 
A number of meetings have taken place between Chris 
Hilton (last one included HM) and Merril, Jim and other 
HAFSON colleagues with an open agreement for further 
meetings if desired. 
 
Discussions have included many more issues than the 
Single point of Access.   
 

 
3. Referral to treatment time target - WLT 
to evidence improvement and continued 
progress in achieving the 28 day target, at 
a future update to HISPAC. / WLT to 
review waiting time data to identify 
outliers that had been waiting longer than 
90 days. / To provide information about 
assessment and referral and clarity about 
wait times. 

  
On 13

th
 October new MINT dashboard shared in a 

presentation with members of HF BBP, external partners 
and colleagues showing some similar data as presented 
to PAC today. 
 
We would be happy to provide a future update against 
progress to achieving the 28 day target and examination 
of outliers. 
 

 
4. Is there evidence to indicate that using 
3 systems RIO (Trust), Mosaic (LBHF 
social workers) and System One (primary 
care) extends waiting times?  
 

 
We do not believe that use of two health systems directly 
contributes to longer waiting times, although it may do so 
indirectly through reduced productivity. The Trust is 
developing a plan to move to one system in the future. 
 
 
Health staff do not access Mosaic and LBHF colleagues 
may wish to comment on the impact for social care staff 
of using multiple systems. 
 

 
5. Community mapping – to develop a 
collective understanding of what 
community based services there are by 
mapping local support provide 

 
Link shared previously. 
 
Wellbeing West London 
 

Page 43

https://www.wellbeingwestlondon.org.uk/


information about WLT commissioning of 
MIND and a time frame for when it can be 
achieved. The commissioning of MIND to 
map community assets work would be 
shared with HISPAC, once complete.  
 

Wellbeing West London is a directory of support services 
across Hammersmith, Fulham, Ealing and 
Hounslow.  Commissioned by West London NHS Trust 
and maintained by HFEH Mind. 
 
If VCS partners feel that additional services should be 
included, the page includes a link to add a service, or 
they can contact signposting@hfehmind.org.uk. 
 
 

 
6. Clarity about the single point of access 
and how the different functions operated 
within this. How are standards assessed? 
Work with Healthwatch to conduct 
mystery shopping mystery shopping 
exercise.  
 
WLT to share details of plans to upgrade 
telephony as part of a workforce review.  
 
 

 
Information about SPA was presented to the Committee 
on 10 November 2021 including KPIs and performance. 
 
Dr Hilton suggested to Ealing Healthwatch that they 
might consider reviewing the SPA (which is based in 
Ealing) as part of their Enter and View programme. 
 
An internal review of the SPA has recently concluded: 

 Funding for telephony upgrade agreed and plan 
being worked up 

 Options for future of SPA being looked at to 
improve staffing model and simplify entry points. 

 Continued efforts to recruit new staff. 

 Engagement with pan-London programme to link 
SPA to 111. 

 
 

 
9. That a report on CAMHs regarding the 
transition from children to adult services 
would be considered at a future meeting.  
 

 
Agreed for Work Programme and presentation in 2023. 

 
10. WLT to share details of their rough 
sleeper’s mental health program.  
 

 
Complete 
Rough sleepers' mental health service 
(westlondon.nhs.uk) 

 
11. Dr Hilton to contact Carolyn Regan [as 
SRO], to confirm the inclusion of mental 
health data reports to the Integrated Care 
Board and ensuring that these were being 
fully communicated and accessible.  
 

 
Complete 
Link to ICB papers including performance pack: 
Meetings :: North West London ICS (nwlondonics.nhs.uk) 
 

 
12. WLT to provide an update on work 
with local disability campaign board.  
 

 
This action remains overdue but propose that it taken up 
by Helen Mangan through the Borough Based 
Partnership. 
 

 
13. To provide the detailed data and 
financial information and any areas from 
the brief that were omitted from this 
report.  
 

 
The total annual budget for Community and Recovery 
MH Services in WLT is £30.497m, of which £25.095m is 
MINT, with the balance being for specialist services (EIS, 
Eating Disorders, Personality Disorder Services and 
Rehabilitation). Year to date the service is £1.074m 
underspent, largely due to vacancies against planned 
recruitment. 
 
The majority of the budget is pay costs, with a total of 
538 established posts and an overall vacancy rate of 
15% across the entire Service Line. 
 

 

 

Page 44

mailto:signposting@hfehmind.org.uk
https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/our-services/adult/mental-health-services/rough-sleepers-mental-health-service
https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/our-services/adult/mental-health-services/rough-sleepers-mental-health-service
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/news/meetings

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Western Eye Hospital and ophthalmology services
	Western Eye Hospital and ophthalmology services - For information Appendix 1

	5 Improving planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery in north west London
	6 West London NHS Trust Update
	West London NHS Trust Update - Appendix


